
Town of Londonderry, New Hampshire 

268B Mammoth Road • Londonderry, NH 03053 

(603) 432-1100 • londonderrynh.gov 

Town Council Meeting – Agenda Item Coversheet 

Meeting Date:     8/18/2025 

Submitted By:  TM Shaun Mulholland 

Department: Town Manager’s Office    

Contact Information: Email or Telephone

Estimated Discussion Time: 20 Minutes 

Agenda Item Number: F. 2

Agenda Item Title: Accept, discuss and take appropriate action regarding the investigative report involving a 

Town Councilor. 

Background and Purpose: The Town Council on June 2, 2025, voted to receive three complaints submitted by a 

resident regarding alleged violations of the Town’s Ethics Code Chapter XXVI by a Town Councilor.    The Town 

Council voted to direct the Town Manager to select an investigator and take the necessary actions to ensure the 

complaints were investigated.  The Town Manager contracted with the law firm Donohue, Tucker and Ciandella 

to conduct the investigation.  The report from Attorney Eric Maher of DTC was sent to the Town Manager and is 

now before the Town Council to receive the report.  Once the Council officially accept the report as complete it 

will discuss the findings to determine if any further action is appropriate.   

Action: Accept the investigative report from DTC Law Firm regarding the complaint alleging violations of the 

Town’s Code of Ethics.  Discuss the findings in the report, make a finding of Unfounded or Sustained and take any 

other action as deemed appropriate.  

Proposed Motion:

Motion #1: MOVED, that the Londonderry Town Council accepts the investigative report and findings from the 

law firm of Donohue, Tucker and Ciandella relative to the alleged acts by Town Councilor Debra Paul detailed in 

the complaints filed on April 30, May 1 and May 8, 2025 regarding violations of the Town’s Code of Ethics. 

Motion#2: MOVED, that the Londonderry Town Council based on the findings of the investigation of alleged 

acts by Town Councilor Deb Paul detailed in the complaint filed on April, 30, May1 and May 8, 2025, regarding 

violations of the Town’s  Code of Ethics are ( if Sustained {Public Censure or other action} or if Unfounded, this 

matter is now closed)

Attachments: 1. Investigative Report from the law firm of DTC.  2. June 2, 2025 Code of Ethics & Town Charter 

Complaint | Londonderry, NH

https://www.londonderrynh.gov/608/June-2-2025-Code-of-Ethics-Town-Charter-
https://www.londonderrynh.gov/608/June-2-2025-Code-of-Ethics-Town-Charter-


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLEASE RESPOND TO THE PORTSMOUTH OFFICE 

PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL 

 

VIA EMAIL ONLY 

Shaun Mulholland, Town Manager 

Town of Londonderry 

268B Mammoth Road 

Londonderry, NH 03053 

 

August 11, 2025 

 

 

Re: Farrell, John – Ethics Complaint Against Debra Paul 

 Opinion and Review of Complaint 

 

Dear Mr. Mulholland:   

 

 The purpose of this letter is to provide a report on the three (3) ethics complaints filed by 

John Farrell (“Farrell”) against Town Councilor Debra Paul (“Paul”), dated April 30, 2025, May 

1, 2025, and May 8, 2025.  I was retained by you, in your capacity as Town Manager, on June 6, 

2025 to provide a review and assessment of the ethics complaints under the provisions of the Town 

of Londonderry Town Charter and New Hampshire Law.  .   

I. Allegations 

 

The allegations can be condensed to the following allegations:   

1. The April 30, 2025 Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  It asserts that:   

a. Paul engaged in “abhorrent and abusive” behavior of an employee, Doug Cole 

(“Cole”) during meeting of the Londonderry Recreation Commission (“Recreation 

Commission”).1 

b. Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to “non-interference” in her 

interaction with Cole at the April 15, 2025 meeting.    

c. Paul violated Section 6.2(b) of the Town Charter because she was “financially 

interested” in a matter being discussed during the April 15, 2025 meeting of the 

Recreation Commission.  

 
1 The Complaint identifies that the meeting occurred on April 25, 2025; however, the meeting 

actually appears to have occurred on April 15, 2025.  

Released for public distribution 8/11/25
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d. Paul violated Section 6.7 of the Town Charter by using the “influence of the 

newspaper for . . . personal gain” during the April 15, 2025 meeting of the 

Recreation Commission.    

e. Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter by directing abusive behavior 

toward Cole during the April 15, 2025 meeting of the Recreation Commission.  

f. Farrell questions whether Paul’s involvement on the Town Council is permissible 

due to “Lyme rage.”  

  

2. The May 1, 2025 Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  It asserts that:   

a. Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to her involvement “as a 

Councilor when she is the Publisher/Editor of the newspaper.”  This includes 

calling Town Staff and stating that she is calling for the newspaper, controlling 

assignments to meet “her personal narrative,” interfering with the Planning 

Department and Planning Board during an April 9, 2025 meeting and suggesting 

that a land use applicant needs to “Pay to Play.”  

b. Paul violated Section 6.2 when, during an April 21, 2025 meeting of the Town 

Council, she sought to “influence the Decision by the Town Treasurer on the 

Selection of Banking Partner for over 100 million in revenue.”   

c. Paul violated Section 6.2 by failing to make disclosures on matters involving 

personal gain, including decisions on the Town’s banking partner and use of 

newspaper advertisements.  

d. Paul violated Section 6.7 by “promoting the use of the local newspaper.”  

e. Farrell repeats his concerns about Paul’s involvement on the Town Council due to 

“Lyme rage.”  

f. Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter through “abuse of employees, idle 

threats to their positions, consent solicitation of the use of her newspaper business 

for personal gain.”  

g. Paul engaged in perjury per a case captioned Gannett Publishing v. Nutfield 

Publishing, 218-2024-CV-00307.  Later excerpts raise Paul’s prior conviction for 

violating RSA 664:16 related to unlawful political advertising.   

 

3. The May 8, 2025 Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  It asserts that:   

a. Paul engaged in “abhorrent and abusive” behavior of an employee, Kellie Caron 

(“Caron”) during meeting of the Town Council.2 

b. Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to “non-interference.”  

c. Paul violated Section 6.7 of the Town Charter by using the “influence of the 

newspaper for . . . personal gain,” knowing about “new projects,” and using “her 

newspaper to create [an] atmosphere of intimidation, bullying, and threats.”   

 
2 The Complaint identifies that the meeting occurred on May 4, 2025; however, the meeting 

actually appears to have occurred on May 5, 2025.  
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d. Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter by directing abusive behavior 

toward Caron.  

e. Farrell repeats his concerns about Paul’s involvement on the Town Council due to 

“Lyme rage.”  

 

II. Executive Summary 

 

Upon investigation, my recommended findings are as follows:   

• Allegation:  Paul engaged in “abhorrent and abusive” behavior toward Cole during 

the April 25, 2025 meeting of the Recreation Commission. 

o Finding: Unfounded.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to “non-

interference” by seeking to have Cole and the Recreation Department notify the 

Londonderry Times regarding recreation activities.   

o Finding:  Unfounded.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.2 of the Town Charter because she was 

“financially interested” in the matter being discussed during the April 25, 2025 

meeting of the Recreation Commission.  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.7 of the Town Charter by using the “influence 

of the newspaper for . . . personal gain.” 

o Finding:  Not Sustained.    

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter by directing abusive 

behavior toward an employee.  

o Finding:  Unfounded.   

• Allegation:  Paul engaged in “abhorrent and abusive” behavior of an employee, 

Kellie Caron (“Caron”) during the May 4, 2025 meeting of the Town Council. 

o Finding:  Unfounded.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to “non-

interference” with regard to her interaction with Caron during the May 4, 2025 

Town Council Meeting related to revisions to the Planned Unit Development 

provisions of the Town’s Zoning Ordinance (“PUD Ordinance”).   

o Finding:  Unfounded.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.7 of the Town Charter by using the “influence 

of the newspaper for . . . personal gain,” knowing about “new projects,” and “uses 

her newspaper to create [an] atmosphere of intimidation, bullying, and threats.”   

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter by directing abusive 

behavior toward an employee. 

o Finding:  Unfounded.    
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• Allegation:  Paul should be required to indemnify the Town of Londonderry due to 

Paul having “Lyme Rage” and/or “Syphilis of the Brain.”  

o Finding:  Not Sustained/Inconclusive. 

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 4.8 of the Town Charter related to her 

involvement “as a Councilor when she is the Publisher/Editor of the newspaper.”  

This includes calling Town Staff and stating that she is calling for the newspaper, 

controlling assignments to meet “her personal narrative,” interfering with the 

Planning Department and Planning Board during an April 9, 2025 meeting and 

suggesting that a land use applicant needs to “Pay to Play.”  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.2 when, during an April 21, 2025 meeting of 

the Town Council, she sought to “influence the Decision by the Town Treasurer on 

the Selection of Banking Partner for over 100 million in revenue.”  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.    

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.2 by failing to make disclosures on matters 

involving personal gain, including decisions on the Town’s banking partner and use 

of newspaper advertisements.  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 6.7 by “promoting the use of the local 

newspaper.”  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul violated Section 8.12 of the Town Charter through “abuse of 

employees, idle threats to their positions, consent solicitation of the use of her 

newspaper business for personal gain.”  

o Finding:  Not Sustained.   

• Allegation:  Paul engaged in perjury per a case captioned Gannett Publishing v. 

Nutfield Publishing, 218-2024-CV-00307.  Later excerpts raise Paul’s prior 

conviction for violating RSA ____:__ related to political advertising.   

o Finding:  Outside the Scope of the Investigation.   

  

III. Factual Background and Investigation Process 

 

Paul is the owner of Nutfield Publishing, which is the parent company of the Londonderry 

Times and the Hudson Times.  Nutfield Publishing also owned the Nutfield Times and the Tri-

Town Times, although, per Paul both of those publications are now only offered through a 

maintained Facebook page.     

 

Paul has lived in the Town for approximately 30 years.  In that time, Paul has served on 

the Heritage Commission, the Old Home Day Committee, the Master Plan Committee, and 

Beautify Londonderry.  In 2020, Paul was elected to the Town Council.  During that time, Paul 

served as an ex-officio member of the Planning Board for the Town Council.     
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Farrell was also on the Town Council during Paul’s first tenure on the Town Council.  

Farrell acted as Chair.  It appears from discussions with various parties that Paul and Farrell had a 

contentious relationship, although who mistreated who appears to be a matter of dispute.  Certain 

individuals have reported that Farrell acted professionally, while Paul did not reflect the same 

degree of professionalism.  Paul asserts that she was the target of bullying by other members of 

the Council.   

 

Paul did not run for re-election in 2024. Paul ran for Town Councilor again in 2025 and 

was successful.  In that election, Farrell was not re-elected to the Town Council.   

 

Summary of Recreation Commission Meeting Interaction 

 

The meeting video from the April 14, 2025 meeting of the Recreation Commission is 

available online on the Town’s Government Access Page on Youtube.  The meeting minutes, 

however, are not posted on the Town’s webpage.  In attendance were Cole, Paul, Recreation 

Director Art Psaledas, and Recreation Commission Members Roberta Davis, Kevin Foley, Patrice 

Ruff-Burbine, and Kristina Ciarametaro.   

 

The video speaks for itself, but the interaction that is the subject of this investigation begins 

at 24 minutes, 50 seconds in the video.  The interaction starts with Paul stating:  “Can I ask you a 

really stupid question as I’m sitting here going, why don’t you ever contact the newspaper about 

any of this stuff. Ever.”  Cole responds that information is posted.  Paul continues, “I’m listening 

to all this stuff and they only way we find out about stuff is if occasionally we see something on 

Facebook or if someone else tells us, but you never, ever, ever, reach out to us to cover this stuff.” 

 

The discussion then proceeds to include the other attendees.  Paul’s statements during the 

meeting include questioning why Cole has a “phobia” to the newspaper that’s delivered to the 

Town.  Paul states during the exchange that she runs 4 newspapers that cover 5 towns and that “all 

[she asks] is that you send in the information.”  She further states that “when you’re going to get 

money to get voted on . . . [it is] easy when people know about it.”   

 

Summary of Town Council Meeting Interaction 

 

The meeting video from the May 5, 2025 Town Council meeting is available online on the 

Town’s Government Access Page on Youtube.  The video speaks for itself, but the interaction that 

is the subject of this investigation begins at 2 hours, 55 minutes in the video.   

 

The video reflects that Paul wanted to bring the topic of the PUD Ordinance to the Town 

Council because “there are a lot of weak spots in it.”  Paul wanted to discuss taking the PUD 

Ordinance “temporarily off the shelf” and “re-do” and “fix” the Ordinance, so that it “is all on the 

side of the Town.”  Paul stated that she wanted to take the PUD Ordinance “off the shelf” because, 
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if there were developers wishing to use the PUD Ordinance now, it leaves the Town open to the 

continued used of the PUD Ordinance.  Paul stated that she was in a “little bit of a rush” because 

she was aware of 2 or 3 developments that could bring in 2 or 3 more PUDs.  

 

Vice Chair Faber stated that the Council could not discuss any planned PUDs “in process, 

right now” and that the Planning Board’s preference was for the Council to “follow the process.”  

At that point, Councilor Combes inquired of Caron of the number of acres needed for a PUD.  

Caron responded 100 contiguous acres.  Councilor Combes expressed that, given the need for 100 

contiguous acres for a PUD, he questioned the likelihood of such a development arising.  Paul 

responded that a developer could buy multiples parcels to meet the 100-acre requirement.   

 

Councilor Combes then asked if Paul wanted to sidestep the PUDs already in place, to 

which Paul responded that the Town could not do so, stating “you know that Ted” and “that’s not 

what I said.”  Councilor Combes stated, “that’s how it sounded,” to which Paul said, “I’m sorry 

you didn’t hear me correctly,” and reiterated her prior comment about developers aggregating 

parcels. 

 

Vice Chair Faber asked Paul to identify what was wrong with the PUD Ordinance. Paul 

responded that the PUD Ordinance had demonstrated itself insufficient “time and time again” and 

“failed us as a community.”  Paul said that she did not have specifics with her but was concerned 

that if someone was looking to purchase a large piece of property “over in the Auburn area” that 

was “concerning to [Paul].”  At this point, Caron stated that she was “going to address that right 

now because [she didn’t] want to get things confused.”  Caron stated that the project had submitted 

“conceptual review” and was “in the queue” and from “a legal standpoint [the Town] would be 

required to follow the current ordinance.”  Caron responded that it became so at a conceptual 

meeting of the Planning Board on January 8, 2025.  Caron proceeds to state that “we’ve consulted 

legal to confirm that that is correct.” Caron then explained the process for the removal of the PUD 

Ordinance and if someone chooses to submit prior, the Town would be required to follow the 

Ordinance.   

 

Paul responded that she was “just a little bit disappointed” because “we had a meeting on 

the 8th” and Caron did not tell her when she brought it up.  Caron responded, “it was publicly 

noticed,” to which Paul says, “but when we were discussing it, you did not mention it.”  Paul then 

says that she’s just “very disappointed” and “that’s all [she was] going to say Kellie.”  Caron states, 

“well I’m going to respond,” to which Paul says, “good you can, but you should have told me.”   

 

Caron stated that, “we discussed the PUD” and told Paul that she was going to pose the 

question about “where it stood from a legal standpoint,” which she states she did in consultation 

with legal counsel. Paul then states, “then this conversation wouldn’t have been happening if you 

had said that, at that private meeting but you chose not to.”  Caron responds, “I didn’t realize your 

intent was to get ahead of that development.”  Paul, “I said it at the meeting Kell.”     
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After this exchange the Council discussed strategies related to the PUD Ordinance at 

length.  At one point in this later discussion, Paul states that the Town is not following the PUD 

Ordinance, questioning why the Technology Hill Development does not have a “development 

agreement.”  Caron responded that the Zoning Ordinance does not require a “development 

agreement,” to which Paul disagreed.  Caron stated, even assuming that Caron was mistaken, it 

would be legal “dangerous” to say that the Town is not following its regulations.   

 

Interview with John Farrell 

 

I interviewed the Complainant John Farrell on June 26, 2025 at my Exeter Office.  Farrell 

was not represented by counsel and attended the interview himself.  The interview was recorded.  

Farell reported that he has no issues impacting his memory and was under no medications which 

may impact his ability to recall information.  Farrell reported that, prior to the meeting, he reviewed 

the three subject complaints and other supporting materials, as well as his scratch notes.   

 

  Farrell has lived in the Town for over 30 years.  During that time, Farrell served 5 

consecutive 3-year terms on the Town Council, until he lost his bid for re-election in 2025.  Farrell 

stated that he has no relationship with Paul.  Farrell stated that Paul ran against him in 2019, and 

lost, then obtained a seat on the Town Council in 2020 and served until 2023, deciding not to run 

again in 2024.  Farrell stated that Paul and “another newcomer” beat him in 2025.   

 

I asked Farrell if any of the stories that were run in the Londonderry Times were harmful 

to his candidacy.  Farrell responded that I should review the John Seidenberg emails appended to 

his complaint.  Those emails are included in Exhibit E and date to 2021.  Mr. Seidenberg is a 

former employee of the Londonderry Times, and the emails reflect Mr. Seidenberg’s statements 

that Paul exercises considerable control over the Londonderry Times.  Farrell characterized the 

Londonderry Times as a “[p]olitical propaganda piece of Ms. Paul directed by her to enhance her 

campaign.”  Farrell stated that Mr. Seidenberg “knows nothing about this” and that Farrell has not 

spoken with Mr. Seidenberg in a couple of years.  Farrell expressed that the Londonderry Times 

is used to communicate Paul’s “narrative and agenda” as to what Paul believes should be “the 

development and functioning of Town Government.”  Farrell characterized Paul as being “anti-

development.”   

 

I responded to Farrell questioning whether having such a position was unlawful.  Farrell 

responded that Paul has “every right to run,” but if Paul is going to sit on the Town Council, she 

needs to follow the law.”  Farrell stated that the only person quoted in every story in the 

Londonderry Times is Paul.   

 

I inquired if this matter was any different than someone having a blogger seeking public 

office.  Farrell suggested that I review the presentation from prior Town Counsel Mike Ramsdell, 

also appended to Exhibit E.    

 



ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL 

Town of Londonderry 

June 19, 2025 

Page 8 of 30 

 

 

 

I asked Farrell how the operation of the newspaper violated the Town Charter.  Farrell 

responded that he didn’t say that it violated the Town Charter,” it violates journalism ethics.”  

Farrell stated that the statements in the newspaper reflect that Paul had “[p]re-conceived, biased 

opinion[s] when voting that [Paul has] demonstrated over a period of years.”  Farrell stated that as 

a Town Councilor you “have to take all the facts and make a decision.”    

 

Farrell discussed that Paul operates her newspaper in a way where third parties have to pay 

for advertising if you want a positive story. He referenced a Mike Kettenbach, related to the 

Woodmont PUD, and Turcotte Tree Service.  I asked Farrell if he was aware of Paul leveraging 

her position in Town government to compel advertising patronage.  Farrell responded, “not at all,” 

but that Paul uses her newspaper to exert influence.  Farrell stated that it “may not violate the 

Charter,” but its “not a great way to do business.”   

 

I brought up Farrell’s allegations that Paul suffers from “Lyme Rage” and “Syphilis of the 

Brain.”  Farrell said that his research shows that Lyme Disease can lead to memory loss and early 

dementia and that she has exhibited potential cognitive impairment through the demonstration of 

rage in public meetings.   

 

I asked Farrell about the allegation that Paul said to a developer that the developer needed 

to “pay to play.”  This statement was made on April 9, 2025 during a discussion of the 

Zalinsky/Auburn Road PUD.  Farrell said that such a position was inappropriate because she is the 

alternate ex officio to the Planning Board.  Farrell asserted that Paul spoke from the audience that 

the developer needed to “give us more” and “do more for the Town.”  I confirmed that Paul was 

sitting in the audience during this discussion.  Farrell confirmed his understanding that she was.  I 

inquired of Farrell as to whether Paul was speaking as an individual or in her capacity as a Town 

Council.  Farrell did not know how Paul introduced herself but asserted that if a person is elected 

to be a Town Council, that person cannot get up and say that you’re not acting as a Town Councilor.  

Farrell asserted that Paul was asserting improper influence through her newspaper and that she 

should not participate.  Farrell went on to say, however, that he is not asking her to resign for those 

reasons, he is asking Paul to resign due to Paul’s “Lyme Rage.”  Per Farrell, “did she violate other 

parts of the charter? I don’t think so.” 

 

I began discussing Farrell’s complaint regarding the conduct during the April 14, 2025 

Recreation Commission Meeting.  We recapped the nature of the allegations, although the video 

was available to play if Farrell had any issues recalling the substance of the meeting.  Farrell 

believed that the discussions between Paul and Cole were inappropriate and “should have been 

taken offline.”  Farrell stated that Paul’s questions were an “interrogation.”  After the meeting, 

Farrell asserted that Recreation Director Art Psaledas called him to discuss the meeting, not in an 

official way but to “air the grievance.”  While Farrell said that Paul allegedly apologized after and 

attributed the incident to “Lyme Rage,” Farrell stated that if you “can’t control yourself, [you] 

shouldn’t be there.”   
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I went through the various violations of the Town Charter alleged to have arisen from the 

April 14, 2025 Recreation Commission Meeting.  We discussed Section 4.6, where Farrell stated 

that Paragraph II was violated because there was “definitely interference there.”  Farrell claimed 

that if Paul disagreed with what transpired, she should have gone to the Town Manager to discuss.  

I asked Farrell what was inappropriate with Paul asking a question during the Recreation 

Commission meeting about why Recreation event were not being publicized.  Farrell stated that 

Paul “belittled [Cole].”  I asked Paul what was belittling.  Farrell responded Paul’s “body language, 

the way she’s interacting, what she’s saying, and also know the history.”  Farrell stated that Paul 

should apologize to Cole.   

 

I asked Farrell to explain his position that Section 6.2 was violated.  Farrell stated that in 

running those stories, Paul will improve circulation, sell more ads, and make more money.  We 

discussed the wording of Section 6.2 which precludes voting on an action under deliberation 

without disclosing a potential conflict of interest.  I asked Farrell if there was anyone that was not 

aware of Paul’s involvement in the Londonderry Times and whether her comments pertained to a 

matter to be voted on during the April 14, 2025 meeting.   

 

Regarding Section 6.7, misuse of information, Farrell alleged that Paul has gained 

“information that [a person] would normally not have access to.”  I inquired of Farrell how this 

applied to the Recreation Commission where members acknowledged that the events that were the 

subject of the comments were publicly noticed.  Farrell indicated that the issue was broader and 

that there was nothing that he could prove but that he suspected.  When asked for an example, 

Farrell raised the disclosure of his ethics complaints and that, when the Town Council initially 

discussed the matter on June 2, the Council chambers were filled with Paul’s supporters.  I inquired 

whether such a matter was, at that point in time, politics.  Farrell inquired whether the average lay 

person would have access to that, but when asked, Farrell was unaware as to whether Paul was 

directed to not disclose the complaint.   

 

Turning to Farrell’s allegation that Paul violated Section 8.2(c), Farrell admitted the 

allegation “may be a stretch,” but that by Paul’s behavior, the employee may feel the need to 

appease her (through providing stories to the Londonderry Times) to Paul’s ultimate financial 

benefit.  

 

We next discussed Farrell’s complaint about Paul arising from the May 5, 2025 Town 

Council Meeting.  Farrell stated that he did not think that a member of the Town Council should 

be treating a member of the “senior staff in that manner.”  Farrell stated that Paul should be 

reprimanded over the incident.  Farrell indicated that he spoke with Caron about the incident.  

Farrell stated that the discussion was likely a side topic to another conversation, particularly where 

Farrell is building an accessory dwelling unit on his home.  Farrell’s ability to recall the discussion 

with Caron was that Caron “didn’t like” the interaction but did not go further.   
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Turning to the specific alleged violations of the Town Charter arising from this incident, I 

asked Farrell how the interaction violated Section 4.8(c).  Farrell agreed that the Zoning Ordinance 

authorizes the Town Council to initiate changes to the Zoning Ordinance and Paul’s discussion 

was initiating that conversation.  However, Farrell took issue with how Paul raised the issue stating 

that you “don’t talk to your staff that way.”   

 

Farrell expressed concern that, given Paul’s inability to control herself, he is concerned 

with the Town’s obligation to indemnify her.  I asked Farrell if he believed that Paul’s conduct 

was legally actionable.  Farrell responded that the singular incident may not be but that it was 

symptomatic of a problem.  Farrell reiterated that Paul should “indemnify the Town.”  He 

expressed that when he was on the Town Council with Paul, Paul would regularly attribute conduct 

to “Lyme Rage” and that Paul would say that she “can’t control it.”   

 

The discussion then went back to the issue of Paul’s stance expressed in the Londonderry 

Times.  Farrell stated that Paul controls narrative of “anti-development.” “You can be anti-

development.”  You can’t use that information that you get in advance for your newspaper.”  I 

asked Farrell to explain that statement.  Farrell explained that Paul was the ex-officio and is now 

the alternate ex-officio member to the Planning Board and receives access to information prior to 

the public.  I asked Farrell if he had specific examples of Paul misusing that information.  Farrell 

stated that you “have to live in Town to know” and suggested that I speak with Caron.   

 

I asked whether Paul’s stories were really more of an issue of  

“journalistic integrity.”  Farrell stated it is a morality issue and an ethical issue.  I asked Farrell 

“whose ethics?”    Farrell replied, “Don’t know, when the Town is sued we’ll find out.” Farrell 

stated, “[i]ndemnify the Town from all your actions.  If you’re going to act in the way you’re going 

to act . . . take responsibility for your actions.”   

 

When I asked Farrell whether he had any statements related to his allegations of violations 

of Section 8.12 and 8.11, Farrell recommended that I talk to Caron.   

 

Turning to Farrell’s April 30, 2025 complaint (Exhibit B), I asked Farrell to comment on 

what he was seeking, as much of the complaint seemed to focus on Paul’s actions as a private 

citizen.  Farrell responded that the incidents show a “pattern of behavior” and reflect that Paul 

should sign an indemnification agreement.   

 

I specifically asked about the allegations in the April 30, 2025 complaint related to 

Enterprise Bank.  Farrell responded that on April 21, 2025, there was a discussion as to the Town’s 

change of banks from Citizens to TD Bank.  Farrell reports that Paul raised multiple questions as 

to why Enterprise Bank was not considered, notwithstanding Farrell’s report that Enterprise Bank 

advertises with the Londonderry Times.  Farell acknowledged that Paul recuses herself whenever 

certain junkyards come before the Town Council because those junkyards advertise with the 

Londonderry Times.   
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Farrell reported his concern of “what if [a third party] didn’t take an ad and then the person 

comes before” the Council.  Farrell stated that businesses in Town understand that if they want 

favorable coverage, they need to take out an ad.  I asked Farrell if he was aware of whether Paul 

leveraged her position as a Town Councilor in such a way.  Farrell could not confirm such an 

incident occurred.     

 

Farrell focused on concerns related to Paul’s integrity, stating that John Seidenberg says 

that Paul has full concern over the newspaper and “shows you the individual you’re dealing with.”  

Farrell reiterated his concern that she uses the Londonderry Times for her own purposes stating 

that one of her reporters, Alex Molm “will be contacted by Paul, will interview her, and then 

write[] the story.”  Farrell concluded that “she uses [the Londonderry Times] as a propaganda piece 

for what she believes should be the story of the community.”   

 

Toward the end of the interview, Farrell articulated that others in Town had previously 

expressed concern over Paul’s relationship with the Londonderry Times, including former Town 

Manager Kevin Smith, noting that prior Town counsel, Mike Ramsdell provided a presentation 

regarding concerns about operating a newspaper while on the Town Council.  Farrell further 

expressed his concern about Paul’s counsel, Kevin Coyle, noting that Farrell had “signed the 

termination paperwork” for Attorney Coyle.   

 

Farell concluded stating that he does not “really care about Ms. Paul.  Don’t really care 

about her newspaper.”  When I asked Farrell about Farrell’s history with Paul, he stated that he 

was raised to treat women with respect and that Paul “got treated with more respect than she 

received in her life when I was on the Town Council with her.”  Farrell reiterated, “indemnify the 

Town and I’m all set.”     

 

Interview of Cole 

 

 On July 2, 2025, I interviewed Cole.  The interview was conducted digitally.  I was unable 

to record the interview due to fact that a technical difficulty required me to use my phone to call 

in, and, consequently, I lacked the access credentials to use the recording functions.   

 

 I started the interview by asking Cole what his relationship is with Paul.  Cole expressed 

that he has had little interaction with Paul.  He has had limited opportunity to speak with her and 

has not conversed with her outside of a formal meeting.   

 

 I asked Cole about the April 14, 2025 Recreation Commission Meeting.  I asked Cole how 

he interpreted the meeting.  Cole interpreted Paul’s comment as Paul runs a local newspaper and 

she could put more information into the public about the Recreation Department using her 

newspaper.  Cole stated that the Recreation Department does not presently do so and would wait 

to get contacted.  He interpreted Paul as saying that the newspaper could help programs or events.   
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 I asked Cole what his perception was of Paul’s comments.  Cole stated that the comment 

took him “off guard” and that he tried to answer the questions but that Paul “wouldn’t stop the 

barrage of things being said.”  Cole stated that he eventually stopped talking because he “didn’t 

want to fire off.”  Cole believed that the discussion “escalated beyond” what it should.   

 

 I asked Cole if he believed that Paul crossed any lines with regard to the April 14, 2025 

meeting.  Cole responded that the interaction took a meeting that was at a high point and brought 

it down quickly, but Cole responded that such things “do happen” and that you have to have “thick 

skin.”  Cole stated that he “was not bothered in the sense of personally,” but the interaction should 

not have happened.   

 

 Cole stated that the April 14, 2025 Recreation Commission meeting was the first meeting 

Paul sat as the liaison to the Town Council on the Recreation Commission.  Cole stated that Paul 

attended the May meeting and there were no issues whatsoever and Paul acted more in the “liaison” 

role.  Cole stated that neither he nor Paul attended the June meeting.   

 

 At the conclusion of the interview, Cole said he is “thick-skinned” but the interaction 

became personal.  He would have wanted the tone and manner the question was asked be different.  

Cole, however, stated that he did not make a complaint to the Town’s Human Resources 

Department, nor is he aware of anyone else making such a complaint.   

 

Interview of Caron 

 

On July 18, 2025, I interviewed Caron.  The interview was conducted digitally.  I was 

unable to record the interview due to the aforementioned technical difficulty, which required me 

to use my phone to conduct the interview.  Consequently, I lacked the access credentials to use the 

recording functions. 

 

Caron reported that she has been with Londonderry for 3 years.  She is presently the 

Assistant Town Manager and Director of Economic Development.  She was initially hired as the 

Town Planner.  I asked Caron what her relationship is with Paul.  Caron stated that Paul was a 

sitting counselor at the time of Caron’s hire and that Paul approved the Town’s nomination to hire 

her.  Prior to working in Londonderry, Caron worked for the Towns of Epping, Merrimac, Milford, 

the State of New Hampshire, and the Rockingham County Regional Planning Commission.   

 

Caron stated that her interactions with Paul are usually through the Town Council and 

Paul’s role on the Planning Board.  Caron stated that, usually, her interactions with Paul outside 

of a meeting are either before or after a meeting.  However, Caron acknowledged that there are 

instances where Caron has met with Paul in meetings with the Town Manager and other councilors, 

although such instances are not common.  Caron stated that such meetings are usually in her 

capacity as Director of Economic Development.   
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I asked Caron if she was aware of instances in which Paul sought to extract a personal 

benefit from developers.  Caron stated that she’s heard accusations but could not provide specifics 

other than rumors.   

 

I asked Caron if she had ever heard Paul refer to herself as having “Lyme Rage.”  Caron 

stated that, to the best of her recollection, Paul had some issues with the brain, but Paul was taking 

care of it.  Caron articulated her understanding that sometimes Paul did not feel well.  Caron did 

not have any concerns as to Paul’s cognitive capabilities, memory, or ability to appropriately 

regulate emotions or behavior.   

 

Caron explained that presently Paul is the alternate ex-officio member to the Planning 

Board, but when Paul was the ex-officio during her prior term with the Town Council.  Caron 

explained that alternates are allowed to ask questions.  She stated that the ex-officio, however, sits 

at the dais.  Caron stated that Paul will participate in Planning Board meetings as a member of the 

public.  Caron stated that, when Paul does, she identifies herself by name and address.  Caron could 

not recall a time that Paul identified herself as acting as a Town Councilor or in any capacity other 

than her personal capacity.  Caron believed that if Paul sought to invoke her status as a Town 

Councilor, she would remember it due to it being unique; Caron could not recall any such instance.   

 

I asked Caron about the May 5, 2025 meeting.  Caron stated that she will review meeting 

minutes as a general practice and rewatched the video from May 5, 2025 as part of her regular 

practice.  Caron denied the characterization that the interaction on May 5, 2025 was “abhorrent or 

abusive.”  Caron stated that she disagreed with Paul and that the interaction “probably bordered 

on unprofessional, but not bullying or abusive.”  Caron stated that similar interactions are “fairly 

common,” particularly with members of the general public.   

 

I asked Caron about the meeting that supposedly took place with Paul prior to the May 5, 

2025 meeting.  Caron stated that the meeting took place with Acting Town Manager Kim Bernard 

(“Bernard”) and Councilor Bouchard.  The purpose of the meeting was to review several topics, 

including the PUD Ordinance.  With regard to the PUD Ordinance, there were a total of 2 

developments and 1 conceptual.  The discussion included what actions the Town Council could 

do about the current development agreement with the Woodmont development agreement and the 

PUD Ordinance. Caron stated that Paul was seeking to rescind the PUD Ordinance and potentially 

renegotiate the terms of the Woodmont developer agreement.  Caron stated that she told Paul that 

she would have to confer with the Town’s legal counsel to see what the conceptual consultation 

meant from a review standard (to see if the project was vested against changes in the Zoning 

Ordinance).  Caron stated that Paul was okay with Caron seeking additional information.  Caron 

expressed her concern that, because the conceptual consultation was noticed, the Auburn Road 

development would be subject to the current iteration of the Zoning Ordinance.  Caron stated that 

she communicated with the Town’s legal counsel who confirmed Caron’s understanding.   
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I asked Caron if she believed Paul’s position on PUD’s was inappropriate.  Caron said that 

Paul’s position was not “uncommon.”   

 

I asked Caron if she discussed the matter with any third party after the May 5, 2025 

meeting.  Caron stated “not that I recall.”  Caron stated she has a standard debrief after meetings 

with Bernard.  Caron stating that she would have highlighted the discussions during the meeting.  

I asked Caron what that meant with regard to the discussion of the PUD Ordinance.  Caron 

responded stating that it would have been something along the lines of “[Paul] brought up the PUD 

Ordinance again, [Caron] confirmed with legal, and disagreed on the recap from the prior 

meeting.”  Caron stated that she did not spend a lot of time being bothered by things at public 

meetings.   

 

I asked Caron if anyone approached her to discuss the May 5, 2025 interaction.  She stated 

certain employees stated that they thought Caron did a great job and handled herself well.  I asked 

if anyone mentioned their opinion that the interaction was inappropriate.  Caron said no.  I asked 

her if she was approached by any members of the public, to which Caron said “not that [she could 

recall].”   

 

I next asked about Caron’s relationship with Farrell.  Caron stated that Farrell is a resident 

and she’s the Assistant Town Manager.  Caron stated that Farrell is friendly, but she has known 

Farrell since she started working in Londonderry.  While Caron grew up in Londonderry, she only 

knew “of him.”  Caron described her interactions with Farrell as “pretty standard,” but denied 

talking about Paul to Farrell.  Caron said that Paul and Farrell likely disagreed more than the 

average town officials when they were both councilors.  I asked how Paul and Farrell handled their 

disagreements.  Caron responded that Farrell handled disagreements professionally, but Paul “not 

always.”  I asked Caron to explain her position.  She stated that Paul is not always professional in 

terms of posture, eye rolling, and sighing.  I asked if Paul used profane or inappropriate language, 

to which Caron said not to her knowledge.  Caron also denied Paul using attacks or insults.   

 

Lastly, I asked Caron about reporting in the Londonderry Times.  Caron states that she has 

not been interviewed and is unaware of staff being interviewed.  Caron stated that she has heard 

rumors of Paul misusing confidential information, but it was only rumors.  Caron could not provide 

any specifics on that issue.   

 

First Phone Call with Richard Flier 

 

On July 7, 2025, Farrell informed me that a Richard Flier was going to try to contact me 

because Mr. Flier had interesting information pertaining to my investigation.  I spoke with Mr. 

Flier on the phone on July 18, 2025.  The interview was conducted on the telephone.   
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Mr. Flier provided a general overview of his experience, which included acting as a 

president of the Visionary Institute, LLC, as well as engaging in development work throughout 

Massachusetts and New Hampshire.   

 

Mr. Flier reported that he was Paul’s landlord.  Mr. Flier provided me a history of his 

relationship with Paul, which reportedly resulted in an eviction for non-payment of rent and other 

grievances related to Paul and Mr. Flier’s relationship as landlord and tenant.  Mr. Flier reported 

that he was threatened by Paul’s husband and was harassed by people loyal to Paul.  Mr. Flier also 

raised various issues related to Paul’s operation of her newspaper.  I informed Mr. Flier that my 

investigation would only pertain to matters related to Paul in her capacity as a Town Councilor.   

 

Mr. Flier asserted that Paul is the leader of a group of 4-to-5 individuals, which includes 

Planning Board Member Ann Chiampa and an unidentified male from the United Kingdom.  Mr. 

Flier stated that Paul will have this group of people show up to meetings to speak against various 

matters that Paul disagrees with.  I asked Mr. Flier if he had any specific information related to 

Paul inappropriately providing information to such individuals; however, Mr. Flier could not 

provide specific examples.  Mr. Flier recommended that I speak to Farrell, Bernard, and Mike 

Kettenbach.   

 

During the discussion, Mr. Flier alluded to his belief that he has been subject to 

antisemitism.  Mr. Flier informed me that he is Jewish and that he has a current project ongoing in 

the Town of Londonderry.  I asked Mr. Flier how, and he stated that a Town body that he had to 

appear before intentionally chose a meeting time on a Friday after the start of the Jewish Sabbath 

to keep Mr. Flier from attending.  [NOTE:  Upon inquiry, I have been unable to find any Town 

boards or commissions that met during a Friday in the recent past.  I believe Mr. Flier was 

referencing the Londonderry Historical Society, which is a separate legal entity and not within the 

scope of this investigation.]   

 

Mr. Flier expressed considerable concern for Paul’s character and what she is doing from 

her position on the Town Council.   

 

Interview with Deb Paul 

 

On July 25, 2025, I interviewed Paul at my Portsmouth Office.  In attendance was Kevin 

Coyle, counsel for Paul.  The interview was audio recorded.  Certain topics of discussion have 

been reorganized for ease of presentation; however, the substance of the discussion has not 

changed.   

 

At the start of the interview, I explained the nature of the investigation and my charge.  

Attorney Coyle explained that there was a fourth complaint, which was supposedly investigated 
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by the County Attorney’s office related to the execution of certain documents in the Nutfield 

Publishing civil action.  I responded that the fourth complaint was not included in my charge.    

 

Attorney Coyle made an opening remark stating that Farrell was a “disgruntled official 

who lost” to Paul.  I stated Attorney Coyle’s would be noted for the record but asked him to allow 

Paul to answer the questions.  Attorney Coyle acknowledged that Paul would answer the questions 

that I asked.   

 

I started the discussion by asking Paul preliminary questions.  Paul stated that she had no 

physical or mental condition impacting her ability to recall information and was not taking any 

medications.   

 

Paul provided me with an overview of the Town positions she had held historically.  Paul 

served on the Heritage Committee for approximately 3 years, starting in or around 2017, on the 

Master Plan Committee in 2013, on the Old Home Day Committee between 2004 to 2009 (and 

then thereafter as a non-member volunteer), and Beautify Londonderry.  Later during the 

interview, Paul also stated that she is the ex-officio member on the Capital Improvement Plan.   

Paul stated that she was previously the ex-officio member of the Planning Board and is the current 

alternate ex-officio to the Planning Board.  In her capacity as alternate ex-officio member, Paul 

states that she usually stays at home unless the current ex-officio Town Councilor says that he will 

not attend; however, Paul still receives the agenda and member packets for Planning Board 

meetings.   

 

With regard to the Town Council, I asked Paul about whether she received any training 

when she first went on to the Town Council.  Paul stated that in 2020, she had an “orientation” 

where she attended with the other members of the Council and the Town attorney.  Paul alleges 

that she was encouraged not to speak or engage during meetings.  Paul stated that she “declined 

that suggestion.”  Paul stated that the meeting was focused on her participation during meetings, 

as opposed to her role on the newspaper.  Paul then was told that she received the “Rules of the 

Town Council.”3 

 

During her first tenure as a Town Councilor, Paul claimed that Farrell was the Chair and 

refused to recognize her to speak because “she owned a newspaper.”  Paul stated that this treatment 

led to Paul to go to the Institute of Free Speech to get involved.  [Note:  a review of the Institute 

for Free Speech’s website confirmed that a letter was sent by the Institute for Free Speech to Farrell 

and the prior Town Council regarding allegations that she was told that it was “not proper for her 

‘to be expressing her opinions about a town issue’ in either ‘social media or legal newspapers.”  A 

copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit F.]  Paul reported that, although new Councilors 

 
3 Upon inquiry, I have been unable to find the “Rules of the Town Council” and conversations 

with Mr. Mulholland did not result in those records being found.  I assume that the “Rules of the 

Town Council” referenced by Paul was the Town’s Code of Ethics.   
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were elected in 2021 and 2022, there was no similar orientation or suggestion made to those new 

members.  Paul further stated that she was subject to “vicious attacks and bullying” from the prior 

Vice Chair Jake Butler, which Farrell “allowed.”   

 

I asked Paul if she read the Town Charter.  Paul stated that she read the Town Charter and 

understood it but could not recite it from memory.  She reported that she reviewed the Town 

Charter a couple of months ago for a purpose unrelated to this investigation.   

 

I asked Paul about the allegation regarding her ownership of the newspaper and her role as 

a Town Councilor.  Paul stated that her ownership is “[n]ot really a conflict of interest” because 

she “personally [doesn’t] benefit from it.”  “I’m putting information in the paper so people can 

know what to do.”   

 

Paul states that she operates 2 newspapers, the Londonderry Times and the Hudson Times.  

She previously also operated the Nutfield News and the Tri-Town times, but the paper publication 

ended in 2022 (Paul stated that she continues the Nutfield News and the Tri-Town Times through 

operating her Facebook Page). Each publication is a separate LLC, the parent of which is Nutfield 

Publishing.  All publications are for-profit entities.  Paul reports that she is the sole member of 

Nutfield Publishing and that Nutfield Publishing is the sole member of the individual publications.  

The Londonderry Times is a free, weekly paper that is mailed.  The sole source of revenue for the 

Londonderry Times is advertising.   

 

Paul reported that she is not a reporter and has no journalism background.  Paul got 

involved in the newspaper because she is “passionate about the community,” stating that she 

decided to start the papers due to the Granite Ridge Power Plant getting approved.  Paul stated that 

the paper’s mission statement is to “educate, engage, and inform the community.” 

 

Paul stated that, at present, she does not write stories, only “editorials,” which she states is 

her “right to do.”  Paul stated that all reporters are freelance, which she reported is standard in the 

current industry.  She stated that the reporters that she uses are not employees and that she cannot 

“tell them what to write.”  Paul will only “buy stories” that cover “Town Matters.”  She stated that 

the freelance reporters will monitor Town social media and review videos of meetings and will 

write stories.  I asked Paul what would happen if the reporters took a position that she did not agree 

with?  Paul was adamant she is unable to tell reporters what to write given their role as independent 

contractors.  Paul denied feeding the freelance writers leads or telling them what to write, stating 

“I’d get in trouble, because not they’re not my employees.”  

 

Paul stated that her husband also assists in the Londonderry Times, doing all “layout and 

design.”  Paul stated that he also writes sports and may write on a topic if it was a subject matter 

that the reporters “could not write about.”  Paul denied disclosing information that she learned in 

her capacity as a Town Councilor to her husband or reporters.  She denied ever trying to order an 

employee to cooperate with the newspaper.   
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When asked if Paul ever encouraged employees to cooperate with the newspaper, Paul 

raised the April 14, 2025 meeting of the Recreation Commission.  Paul stated that she heard at that 

meeting that the Recreation Department was doing “great stuff.”  Paul stated that it costs her money 

to run stories from the Town about Town events.  Paul stated that, by the time she receives 

information about an event at the Town, an edition of the newspaper is already laid out and the 

stories purchased from the freelancers.  To run the story provided by the Town, she has to forego 

using the purchased story, and she “eats that loss.”  Paul stated that she never charges the Town to 

run a story but has charged the Town to run advertisements or classified ads.  Paul stated that she 

has encouraged, but never ordered, a Town employee to provide information to the Londonderry 

Times.  

 

I asked Paul if she was familiar with principles of recusal.  Paul stated that she was.   Paul 

reported that when a company does business with her, she will recuse from discussions on the 

matter.  Paul referenced that when she was on the Town Council in 2022-2023, Barkman Towing 

came before the Planning Board, but the business had run a classified ad in the Londonderry Times 

6 months prior.  Paul reported that she disclosed the matter and recused herself.  Paul also reported 

that when Farrell was being appointed to Deputy Treasurer, Paul recused herself because of the 

complaints made by Farrell.   

 

I asked Paul what she does when she recuses herself.  Paul stated that she will step down 

from the table and sit in the audience.  Paul stated that she did the same when Murray’s Junkyard 

needed to get a junkyard license.   

 

I asked Paul about the allegations related to Enterprise Bank.  Paul reported that, at the 

time, Enterprise Bank had not advertised in the Londonderry Times for almost two years.  I asked 

Paul what her standard was for when enough time passed.  Paul informed me that she gives it a 

year.  “If actively in the paper, coming in and out, that to [Paul] is what you would do, and [Paul] 

give[s] it a year.”   

 

I asked Paul how advertising works.  She responded that individuals will either advertise 

on an issue basis or over a period of time.  Paul reported that if someone wanted to come in for a 

single issue in a week, Paul’s recusal period starts from that date.  If the ad appears weekly, Paul 

would always recuse.  Paul stated that the one-year period is self-imposed and that she did not 

consult with any third party as to that recusal standard.  Per Paul, it’s her newspaper, so she “sets 

the standards.”   

 

I asked Paul about the allegations related to her mental capacity, specifically the references 

to “Lyme Rage.”  Paul stated that she discovered that she had been living with Lyme Disease for 

16 years prior to its discovery and by that time it had mutated into a variety of other maladies.  She 

reported that she experienced various symptoms from “foggy brain” to “shakes and tremors,” but 

went on heavy anti-biotics.  The end results left Paul with what is referred to as “Lyme Rage,” 
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where she will get emotionally stressed and have difficulty controlling it.  She said that she is 

working with doctors to control it, but she gets emotional.  Paul stated that she is “not a threat,” 

and that it is no different from a variety of other ailments that others can have that make someone 

more emotional.  Paul stated that she has “pretty much plateaued.”   

 

I next asked Paul if she ever alluded to herself as having “syphilis of the brain.”  She stated 

that she has had a lot of co-infections due to the long-standing, untreated Lyme Disease, one of 

which starts with an “s”, but it is not syphilis.  Paul stated that she has challenges regulating 

response, but no concerns as to cognitive capabilities.  She has not been diagnosed with a cognitive 

disorder, has not been adjudicated incompetent to handle her affairs, and has not had a 

guardianship or conservatorship imposed.  

 

I asked Paul about the April 14, 2025 meeting of the Recreation Commission.  Paul stated 

that she “[p]ersonally did not think it was a big deal.” Paul stated that she was at the Recreation 

Commission meeting as a liaison for the Town Council.  We proceeded to watch the video from 

the meeting at the point of the discussion that was the subject of Farrell’s complaint.  During the 

beginning of the video, Paul asked me to stop the video to state that Paul did not want to hire Cole 

and that Cole knew Paul did not want to hire him as he was at the meeting where his candidacy 

was being discussed.  I asked Paul the importance of this fact, and Paul responded that she is “not 

in his head,” but went on to state that maybe Cole is upset with her.  I responded that Cole did not 

submit the complaint.  Paul questioned how Farrell knew about this one exchange from one 

Recreation Commission meeting. Paul stated that she believes someone fed the issue to Farrell.  I 

asked Paul who she believes reported the issue to Farrell.  Paul refused to say, stating that she only 

has a suspicion and that you “gotta have a receipt to say something.”  We continued to watch the 

video.   

 

At the conclusion of the video, I asked Paul if there was anything that she would have done 

differently about the interaction.  Paul stated, that she “probably could have been calmer,” but her 

beliefs and her beliefs and their beliefs are their beliefs.  Paul stated that she believes in “healthy 

discussion” and expressed that the interaction constituted “healthy discussion.”  

 

I asked Paul if she had ever had training in human resources.  Paul responded that she was 

“not allowed to talk to anyone.”  I asked if she had prior training in human resources in her private 

business, to which Paul responded that such training was “old.”  Paul stated:  “You may not like 

[her] as a boss.  You may not like [her] tone.  You may like [her] mannerisms, but as long as [she 

is] not forcing you, accusing you, or bullying you” she is expressing herself and entitled to do so.   

 

I asked Paul if she was aware of Cole submitting any complaints to the Town’s Human 

Resources Department, to which she said no.  Paul stated that she’s had no discussions with any 

third-party regarding the exchange.  Her response to the video, however, is that she would have 

been a “little bit slower” and a “little bit calmer,” but would not change what she felt.   
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I next discussed Farrell’s complaint regarding the May 5, 2025 Town Council meeting 

exchange with Caron.  Paul started the discussion, stating that the exchange was a situation where 

she was “lied to.”  I asked Paul to explain her position.  Paul alluded to a meeting on May 2, 2025 

where she met with Caron, Bernard, and Councilor Dan Bouchard.  The date provided by Paul did 

not correspond with what was reported by Caron or Bernard, nor does it align with the date 

referenced in the meeting video, in which Paul references the meeting as occurring on the 8th.  As 

this meeting took place after Town elections, the only date that would fit the 8th is April 8, 2025 – 

March 8th predating the elections and May 8th not yet occurring.   

 

One of the topics of discussion at the prior meeting was the PUD Ordinance.  A topic of 

discussion was the option to “remove” the PUD Ordinance.  Paul stated that she asked whether 

there were any projects in the “pipeline” as she was specifically concerned about a development 

on Auburn Road.  Paul states that Caron told her “no.”  I followed up asking Paul if she was sure 

Caron was unequivocal in her statement of “no.”  Paul stated that she was.  I asked her if Caron 

could have said that she had to check with the Town attorney first, but Paul was certain Caron said 

no.   

 

Paul reported that at the subsequent Town Council meeting on May 5, 2025, she was told 

that the PUD Ordinance’s removal would not have stopped the projects that she was concerned 

about, causing Paul to feel publicly embarrassed.  Paul alluded to Caron having animosity against 

Paul.  Paul stated, “Kelly Caron filed a sexual harassment complaint against me because I used the 

word seduced” as it relates to her role as the Community Development Director.  Paul went on to 

say that the matter resulted in a lawsuit against the Town because former Town Manager Mike 

Malagutti submitted a formal complaint about the use of the word “seduce.”  She stated that the 

lawsuit arose because Farrell showed Paul the complaint, but refused to let her have a copy, 

resulting in a lawsuit filed under RSA chapter 91-A.  When I asked whether the complaint came 

from Caron or Maligutti, Attorney Coyle stated that he would not go so far as to say that the 

complaint came from Caron but was submitted by Maligutti on behalf of “an employee [Caron].”  

Attorney Coyle then summarized the Superior Court action in Deb Paul v. Town of Londonderry, 

Rockingham County Superior Court Docket No. 218-2023-CV-00569.  Coyle stated that the 

decision “lambasts” the Town and “frames how things were and how [Paul was] treated on first 

term.” After the interview, I reviewed the Superior Court’s decision, and a copy of that decision is 

appended hereto as Exhibit D.   

 

Turning back to the May 5, 2025 meeting, Paul stated, with regard to Caron’s statement 

regarding the PUD Ordinance’s removal and that it would not impact certain developments, “[she] 

was shocked.  You don’t tell lies like that. You don’t do that.”  I informed Paul that I define as lie 

as a “misrepresentation made with the intent to deceive.”   I asked Paul what made her believe that 

Caron lied?  Paul stated that Caron has been trying to discredit Paul, referencing a Master Plan 

Committee where Caron and Paul had an exchange regarding a calendar issue and the last Town 

Council Meeting where Caron allegedly got “very hostile toward [Paul]” during a discussion of 

the Zoning Ordinance.  Paul stated that she could “only take so much,” but stated that she did not 
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respond to the recent Town Council matter or to the Master Plan Committee matter.  Paul stated 

that she believes Caron is trying to discredit her.  Paul stated that she believed that Caron made a 

complaint to Maligutti and then Maligutti brought it forward and that Caron harbors “animosity” 

toward her.    Paul stated that she believes that she was justified in taking the tact displayed at the 

May 5, 2025 meeting of the Town Council stating that it was a “human, natural reaction.”   

 

I addressed Farrell’s allegation that Paul has stated that developers have to “pay to play” 

in Londonderry.  Paul recalled that the exchange happened at the April 2025 meeting of the 

Planning Board.  Paul stated that, during the meeting, she was sitting in the audience and 

approached during public comment, the issue was one of an anticipated PUD.  Paul stated that she 

commented that there should be a development agreement and that there should be a little bit of 

“give and take” to find “neutral ground” between the developer and the Town.  Paul denied using 

the phrase “pay to play,” and insisted it was “give and take.”   

 

Interview of Kim Bernard 

 

 On August 1, 2025, I interviewed Bernard.  I conducted the interview by telephone.  The 

call was not recorded.   

 

 The interview started with a discussion of the April 14, 2025 Recreation Commission 

meeting.  Bernard stated that he was “completely shocked about what transpired.”  Bernard stated 

that he called Cole and apologized for the incident.  Bernard also stated that he approached Paul 

about the matter and said that Paul was “standoffish” and downplayed the interaction.   

  

 Bernard said that, as a supervisor, how Paul spoke to Cole was not the time or the place to 

talk to someone like that.  In police work, Bernard would have characterized Cole’s behavior as 

“conduct unbecoming.”  Bernard referenced that Paul “berat[ed] the kid” and that Paul was 

soliciting and berating Cole.   

 

 Bernard stated that he was contacted by Farrell.  Bernard stated that Farrell said to the 

effect of “can you believe that she treated a kid this way?”  Farrell’s call prompted Bernard to 

watch the video and approach Cole to talk about it.  Bernard said Cole’s response was to the effect 

of “it is what it is.”   

 

 With regard to the May 5, 2025 Town Council meeting, Bernard has not re-watched the 

video but acknowledged that he was there.  Bernard stated that he does not “like how [Paul] talks 

and treats people.”  Bernard stated that he thought the conversation was professional until Paul 

started “going after Kellie.”  Bernard said that Caron handled it “better than most,” however, 

Bernard also said that the interaction was not typical, but he was not shocked.   

 

 Bernard reported that after the meeting Caron was visibly upset but did not verbally address 

it.  Bernard said that there was “no small talk” after the meeting and that Caron sought to get out 



ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL 

Town of Londonderry 

June 19, 2025 

Page 22 of 30 

 

 

 

of the office.  Bernard stated that the meeting was a topic of discussion in Town for a couple of 

days.   

 

 I asked Bernard about the substance of the prior meeting between Caron and Paul.  Bernard 

said that Paul and Councilor Bouchard were just starting out as councilors and that the PUD 

Ordinance was a “hill to die on.”  He mentioned that certain councilors wanted to stop a project.  

Bernard could not recall if he was speaking to the same meeting, but recalled the meeting being 

attended by Finance Director Justin Campo, Caron, Paul, Bernard, and Councilor Bouchard.  

Bernard remembered 4 projects being a topic of discussion.  Bernard said that there was some 

discussion about going back and changing certain development agreements.  Bernard said Caron 

is typically very “cautious and detailed” and is considered an ”expert in her field.”   

 

 Bernard recalled that, in response to the desires of the Council, Caron wanted the 

councilors to get their concerns in writing, at which time should would vet them.  However, 

Bernard said that they only received responses from 2 councilors, neither of which came from 

Paul.  I asked Bernard if there was a reference to needing to discuss a matter with legal counsel at 

the meeting.  Bernard said that, if it was the same meeting, Caron tried to tell them that they could 

not take their desired action and would need to run the issue by the Town’s legal counsel.   

 

 I asked Bernard about Farrell’s allegation that Paul is misusing confidential information.  

Bernard was aware of the allegations in the Seidenberg emails, but Bernard could not think of any 

instances.   

 

 I next asked Bernard about his perception of Paul’s capacity.  Bernard said that you never 

know what to expect.  Bernard did not think Paul has diminished capacity.   

 

 Bernard concluded the call saying that Cole “didn’t deserve that” and “Kellie didn’t 

deserve that either.”   

 

Second Phone Call From Richard Flier 

 

 On April 5, 2025, I received a second phone call from Richard Flier.  Mr. Flier wanted to 

meet me in person.  He stated that he did not want to put anything in writing and did not want to 

say what he had to say over the telephone.  He said that his call was prompted by a call from 

Farrell.   

 

 I expressed concern about driving to Londonderry to interview Mr. Flier further given the 

limited nature of my charge and my direction to limit the investigation to the complaints raised.  I 

informed Mr. Flier that many of his prior allegations were not related to Paul’s role in the Town.  

As an example, I noted that the issue he raised related to antisemitism pertained to the Historical 

Society, which is not a Town body.  Mr. Flier repeated his prior allegations against Paul, namely 

that Paul’s husband has threatened him and that her friends and family have harassed him by 
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vandalizing his property.  I told Mr. Flier that such matters were outside of my charge.  Mr. Flier 

expressed confusion as to what my charge is, to which I explained that my role was limited to 

ascertaining whether Paul engaged in misconduct as Town official.   

 

 Mr. Flier recommended that I speak to Mike Kettenbach, with whom Paul “had and 

continues to have a terrible relations with.”  Mr. Flier alleged that if people do not pay Paul, they 

will receive bad press in the newspaper and “she has people” that will go against a project for her.  

Mr. Flier repeated that Paul has a group of 5 people that she uses for such purposes.   

 

 I explained to Mr. Flier that in the various discussions that I’ve had with third parties, not 

one has provided specifics as to Paul requiring people to pay her for her activities as a Town 

Councilor or her misusing information.  Mr. Flier said I should speak to Farrell and Bernand, to 

which I responded that I had and neither had the information he asserts that they do.   

  

 I suggested to Mr. Flier that, if he has a specific complaint, he should file one with the 

Town.   

 

IV. Cited Provisions of the Town Charter 

 

Section 4.8. Non-interference with Town Administration.  

 

The Council shall act in all matters as a body. Except as expressly provided elsewhere in 

this Charter, neither the Council nor any of its members shall direct or request the 

appointment of any person to office or employment; or direct the removal, suspension, 

discipline, adjustment in pay, benefits, or working conditions of any employee by the 

Manager or of any of the Town department heads. No Councilor shall give orders to or 

interfere with the performance of the duties of any of the administrative officers or 

employees, either publicly or privately. Nothing contained in this section shall prohibit the 

Council from meeting with the Manager to discuss the operation or conduct of any 

department head or employee and to recommend an investigation and report by the 

Manager of any complaint. Any violation of the provisions of this section by a Councilor 

shall constitute grounds for forfeiture of office under the provisions of Section 3.3. 

 

Section 6.7. Misuse of Information.  

 

No elected or appointed officer or employee of the Town shall utilize or dispense 

information gained through said office or employment for personal profit or another’s 

personal profit. 

 

Section 8.11. Indemnification of Town Officers, Board Members, and Employees.   
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The Town shall undertake to indemnify and save harmless all its officers, officials, 

volunteers, boards, commissions and employees from personal loss and expense. Expenses 

may include reasonable legal fees and costs, if any, arising out of any claim, demand, suit 

or judgment by reason of negligent acts or omissions if the indemnified person was acting 

in the scope of his office or employment and in good faith in accord with the provisions of 

State Law 

 

Section 8.12. Prohibition.  

 

A. No person shall be appointed to or removed from, or in any way favored or discriminated 

against with respect to, any Town position or appointed Town administrative office because of 

age, race, sex, political or religious opinions or affiliations.  

 

B. No person shall willfully make any false statement, certificate, mark, rating or report in 

regard to any test, certification or appointment.  

 

C. No person who seeks appointment or promotion with respect to any Town position or 

appointed Town administrative office shall directly or indirectly give, render or pay any 

money, service or other valuable thing to any person for or in connection with his test, 

appointment, proposed appointment, promotion or proposed promotion.  

 

D. No person who runs for Town office shall orally, by letter, or otherwise, solicit or assist in 

soliciting any assessment, subscription or contribution for any political party or political 

purpose whatever from any person holding any compensated appointed Town position.   

 

V. Analysis 

 

Given the breadth of the complaints, I will break the individual components into manageable 

parts in order to address the concerns in a more organized fashion.  Those categories are:  (a) 

alleged mistreatment of employees, (b) alleged conflicts of interest due to Paul’s ownership of a 

newspaper and misuse of Town information, (c) alleged misconduct occurring outside of Paul’s 

role as a Town Councilor, and (d) Paul’s alleged illness and the role thereof.  

a. Alleged Mistreatment of Employees 

 

Having reviewed the videos from the April 14, 2025 Recreation Commission meeting and 

the May 5, 2025 Town Council meeting, it is my opinion that Paul’s behavior did not rise to the 

level of violating any pertinent provision of the Town Charter or New Hampshire law.  For that 

reason, I have found that the allegations unfounded Paul as those allegations specifically relate to 

Paul’s treatment of Cole and Caron.   
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Paul’s conduct during the April 14, 2025 and May 5, 2025 meetings do not rise to the level 

of being “abhorrent” or “abusive” as described in Farrell’s complaints.  Turning first to the April 

14, 2025 Recreation Commission meeting, Paul did not engage in name-calling, did not use threats 

or course language.  Paul’s interactions directly with Cole, as opposed to the other attendees at the 

meeting, was limited.  Paul’s tone could be characterized as accusatory – i.e. “why don’t you ever 

contact the newspaper about any of this stuff. Ever” and “you never, ever, ever, reach out to us to 

cover this stuff.”  However, her accusatory comments pointed at Cole are limited in time and 

nature, and are not objectively severe.  The same can be said of Paul’s statement to the effect that 

Cole had a “phobia” of the newspaper.  The remark is of such a limited duration and, viewed in its 

worst light, is only somewhat objectionable.  The fact that Cole himself did not file a complaint 

with the Town’s Human Resources Department or speak to any significant number of people about 

the incident belies the fact that Cole did not view it as severe or actionable.  Cole himself 

recognizes that in his position there is an expectation of having “thick skin.”  While Paul’s tone 

and demeanor are confrontational, confrontational speech is not prohibited, particularly in public 

sector employment, where there are First Amendment implications.     

 

Turning to Paul’s conduct during the May 5, 2025 meeting, I reach the same conclusion.  

There is a clear disagreement between Paul and Caron as to what actions transpired prior to the 

May 5, 2025 meeting.  Paul believes that Caron was unequivocal in her statement that “removing” 

the PUD Ordinance would not allow certain projects to proceed.  Caron (as corroborated by 

Bernard) was equally certain that her statement was that she had to contact the Town attorney 

about the matter.  I have no reason to doubt the sincerity of either individual’s recollection, 

particularly given the passage of time, and I do not need to ascertain who was right to make a 

determination of whether Paul acted inappropriately during the May 5, 2025 meeting.   

 

During the May 5, 2025 meeting, there was a vocal and articulated disagreement between 

Paul and Caron about what transpired.  Caron’s tone and demeanor was professional and measured 

throughout.  Paul’s tone was argumentative at times.  However, Paul did not make accusations in 

public (as she did during her interview), did not direct insults at Caron, and did not use foul of 

profane language.  Paul held firm in her assertions, as did Caron.  Paul’s voice was elevated at 

times, but did not, in my opinion, cross into the line into yelling.  Paul took a similar tone during 

her interactions with other Councilors during that exchange, and I did not observe any members 

of the Council take offence to Paul’s tone or demeanor sufficient to speak out against it either on 

their own behalf or on Caron’s behalf.  In my experience, Paul’s tone and delivery was not 

shocking or unusual in the context of municipal governance.  That Caron herself acknowledged 

that she did not believe the conduct was “abhorrent” or “abusive” and was not unusual in her 

experience supports this conclusion.   

 

Paul’s conduct also did not violate Section 4.8 of the Town Charter.  At the April 14, 2025 

meeting of the Recreation Commission, Paul did not “giver orders to” or “interfere with the 

performance of any of the administrative officers or employees.”  Paul’s comments can, at best, 

be considered as encouragement to allow for information about the Recreation Department to reach 
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a greater number of the public.  Farrell’s suggestion that Paul could not raise these concerns during 

a Recreation Commission meeting, with all members of the Recreation Commission and 

Recreation Department staff present, and instead that Paul should have directed the comment to 

the Town Manager ignores the purpose of having public meetings and having a liaison from the 

Town Council present at such meetings.  That Paul did not “interfere” in Recreation Department 

operations is evidenced by the fact that, according to Paul, neither Cole nor Recreation Director 

Psaledas have provided information to the Londonderry Times following the April 14, 2025 

meeting.  Had either individual felt in some way compelled due to Paul’s comments to supply 

information to the Londonderry Times, it is reasonable to conclude that they would have acted in 

accordance with Paul’s suggestions.   

 

The same could be said of the May 5, 2025 meeting of the Town Council.  It is undisputed 

that the Town Council has the ability to amend the terms of the Zoning Ordinance.  See Section 

9.5 of the Town’s Zoning Ordinance; RSA 675:2.  Paul sought to discuss amending the terms of 

the Zoning Ordinance.  In furtherance of that discussion, Paul directed questions and comments to 

the Assistant Town Manager and Community Development Director, who Bernard (the acting 

Town Manager at the time) acknowledges is the subject matter expert for the Town in this area.  I 

do not believe that directing inquiries during a public meeting to a Town employee that is a subject 

matter expert, in the Town Manager’s presence, on an issue within the purview of the Town 

Council constitutes a violation of Section 4.8 of the Town Charter.   

 

Lastly on this issue, Paul’s conduct during the April 14, 2025 and May 5, 2025 meetings 

did not violate Section 8.12 of the Town Charter.  There is no suggestion that either Caron or Cole 

were discriminated against because of “age, race, sex, political or religious opinions or 

affiliations.”  There is no allegation that Paul willfully made a false statement on any “test, 

certification, or appointment.”  There is no allegation that Paul paid money in connection with any 

appointment or promotion.  There is no allegation that Paul, when she ran for office, solicited a 

contribution from a political party.  Those activities constitute the prohibited acts under Section 

8.12, and Farrell himself acknowledged that that aspect of his complaints was a “stretch.”   

 

In reaching these conclusions, I am opining on whether Paul engaged in actionable 

misconduct under the Town Charter and New Hampshire law.  I am not commenting as to whether 

Paul’s tone, delivery, demeanor, and manner of speaking constitute optimal personnel practice or 

will ensure retention of employees.  Clearly, there are differing opinions on the matter, and I make 

no comment in that regard.   

 

b. Alleged Conflicts of Interest and Misuse of Information 

 

The allegations that Paul engaged in a conflict of interest or misused information is not 

substantiated by the evidence provided during this investigation.  Part of the complaints appear to 



ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL 

Town of Londonderry 

June 19, 2025 

Page 27 of 30 

 

 

 

arise from a misconception about what a councilor can and cannot say.  This stems from apparent 

misconceptions as to the standards for recusal in municipal government.   

 

Whether a public official should recuse themselves depends on the role in which they are 

acting.  Town officials, especially Town Councilors and members of Planning Boards, can sit in 

an executive, legislative, or quasi-adjudicative capacity.  The applicable standards for recusal 

depend on what capacity the public body is acting in.  When a public body is acting in a quasi-

adjudicative capacity – meaning that they are considering evidence and the competing rights of 

others and reaching a decision after deliberation – New Hampshire law requires adherence to the 

so-called “juror standard.”  See Loughlin on Local Government Law, 13 N.H. PRACTICE SERIES § 

585.  Under this standard, if a Town Official would be disqualified from sitting on a jury on a 

hypothetical matter due to that person’s relationship to the parties, attorneys, or experts, or had 

reached a predetermination on the issue, the town official should similarly recuse themselves from 

that issue.  See Winslow v. Holderness Planning Bd., 125 N.H. 262 (1984).   

 

A public body, however, does not always operate in a quasi-adjudicative capacity.  In 

instances where the public body is considering amending ordinances and policies, it is operating 

in a legislative capacity.  In instances where the public body is considering expenditures or vendor 

selection, it is acting in an executive capacity.  The standard for recusal for when a public body is 

acting in a legislative or executive capacity is whether the official has a “direct personal and 

pecuniary interest” in the matter being discussed.  See Preston v. Gillam, 104 N.H. 279 (1962).  

This is a less exacting standard than the quasi-adjudicative capacity.   

 

When an individual is recused, it is appropriate for that recused individual to excuse 

themselves from the dais and sit in the audience.  When they do so, that individual still enjoys their 

right to exercise free speech under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and its New 

Hampshire analog.  A further misconception that is at the heart of these complaints is that Town 

officials check their First Amendment Rights at the door when they are elected.  This is not 

accurate.  Town officials retain those rights and can voice their opinions on matters of public 

importance.  To be clear, depending on how they voice their opinions, that public official may be 

subject to a request to recuse if, at a later point in time, they are asked to sit in a quasi-adjudicative 

capacity and their prior comments tend to show predetermination or bias, but that does not mean 

that the individual cannot express their opinion on a matter.  This is also not to say that a public 

official should not still exercise a degree of caution in what is said publicly to avoid personal 

statements being attributed to the Town in litigation.  Such a discussion is well beyond the scope 

of this investigation, but suffice it to say, elected Town officials may continue to exercise their 

First Amendment rights and espouse their political beliefs once elected.   

 

With this background, I turn to the allegations related to Paul’s alleged conflicts of interest.  

Paul’s ownership of the newspaper does not create a conflict of interest.  There is no provision in 

New Hampshire law that disqualifies a member of the press or the owner of a newspaper from 
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public office.  While care should be taken in not allowing those two roles to become blended, I did 

not receive any clear evidence reflecting that was the case as it related to Paul.   

 

Despite asking the questions of the various individuals noted above, several of whom 

appeared to have a long and contentious history with Paul, not one was able to provide any clear 

instance in which Paul had sought to use her position on the Town Council to benefit the 

Londonderry Times.  No interviewee identified an instance where Paul sought to compel Town 

employee cooperation with the newspaper.  No interviewee identified an instance where Paul 

disclosed confidential information to the newspaper.  While there is rumor and supposition, no 

interviewee identified any specific instance of misconduct in this regard.  As such, the allegations 

that Paul misused information for personal gain in violation of Section 6.7 of the Town Charter 

were not substantiated.    

 

On the issue of whether Paul engaged in misconduct by pressing Cole and other attendees 

at the Recreation Commission meeting on April 14, 2025 to tell information to the newspaper, the 

“financial benefit” in violation of Section 6.2 of the Town Charter, the alleged “financial benefit” 

is far too tenuous for me to conclude that a violation arose.  For one, Paul’s comments were geared 

toward having the public informed about the good work being done by the Recreation 

Commission.  There is no solicitation for advertising and no suggestion that Paul or the 

Londonderry Times would receive financial compensation from the Town for running a story.  The 

suggestion that the stories would lead to increased circulation and, thus, increased advertising 

revenues is too tenuous to implicate the conflict-of-interest provisions of Section 6.2 of the Town 

Charter.  Second, there is no violation of Section 6.2 because the discussion was not “taking part 

in a decision concerning the business of the Town.”  Paul provided a suggestion, one delivered in 

a somewhat confrontational manner, but a suggestion nonetheless.  Lastly, Paul provided a 

reasonable explanation about how running a story for the Recreation Commission would actually 

come at a financial loss to Paul, as she would have to forego running a story that she paid for and 

“eat” that cost.   

 

Turning to the allegation that Paul violated Section 6.2 Town Charter by taking part in the 

discussion of the Town’s banking institution and suggesting Enterprise Bank, I find Paul’s 

explanation on that issue reasonable.  Paul identified that her protocol for dealing with individuals 

who have advertised with the newspaper is to give a one-year period prior to sitting on matters 

involving that business.  Paul stated that she had not run an advertisement with Enterprise Bank 

for a period in excess of 1 year when she sat on the discussion of the Town’s chosen banking 

institution.  While Paul’s “1-year” rule may not be appropriate in all instances, I cannot say that 

such a rule was inappropriate here, particularly where the April 21, 2025 meeting minutes do not 

reflect that the Council was being asked to “deliberate” on any matter, and only reflect that the 

Town’s Finance Director Justin Campo was providing an update on an RFI.  A copy of the April 

21, 2025 meeting minutes are attached as Exhibit G.   
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To address, the alleged “pay-to-play” comments, this allegation is unfounded.  The meeting 

minutes from the April 9, 2025 meeting of the Londonderry Planning Board confirm Paul’s 

explanation that her comment was “give and take” between the Town and the developer regarding 

a development.  This is not an inappropriate comment made in the context of the Planning Board 

process, particularly as it relates to complicated developments.   

 

Lastly, the suggestion that Paul is somehow using the newspaper as a “propaganda tool” is 

not actionable misconduct.  Individuals are allowed to publish their political opinions, whether it 

be through a controlled newspaper, or a controlled blog, or a controlled Facebook page.  That the 

Londonderry Times is a newspaper and may run afoul of journalism standards is outside the scope 

of this investigation.  Such activities do not constitute actionable misconduct under the Town 

Charter.  If the voters do not agree with Paul’s statements, then the recognized recourse is at the 

ballot box.  If readers do not agree with Paul’s statements, they can seek to discontinue receiving 

the Londonderry Times.   

 

c. Alleged Misconduct occurring in Paul’s private capacity 

 

Much of the complaints made by Farrell and Mr. Flier pertain to Paul’s conduct in the 

operation of the newspaper and her private activities.  This report makes no comment regarding 

those allegations.  To the extent that such behavior, if true, should disqualify Paul from acting as 

a public official, that is an issue that should be left to the voters.  To the extent that the complaints 

assert that Paul is “unethical” or “immoral” or not of a good character, such issues are outside the 

powers of this investigator to opine upon.  So long as the Town Charter and New Hampshire law 

is not being violated by Paul in her capacity as a Town Councilor, there is little action that can be 

done legally, and such issues lend themselves to resolution through the political process.   

 

d. Paul’s capacity to act as a Town Councilor 

 

Lastly, to turn to Farrell’s primary concern, which is that Paul’s mental state leaves the 

Town at risk and should merit Paul executing a “hold harmless” or “indemnification” agreement.  

I am neither qualified, nor capable of rendering an opinion on this issue.  I am not a physician or 

a psychologist.  I am not trained to render opinions as to mental capacity or impairment.  I did 

examine Paul from a psychologist’s perspective, nor was I asked to arrange for such an 

examination with a third party.   

 

Therefore, I can only lend my lay observations.  In my interactions with Paul and in the 

conduct of interviews with others, I made no observations which would lead me to believe that 

Paul’s capacity or mental/emotional condition was such that Paul was incapable of performing her 

duties as a Town Council such that the Town Council could compel Paul to execute a “hold 

harmless” or “indemnification” agreement.  I met Paul in person in my office.  I observed no issues 

of hygiene or deficiencies in self-care.  Paul exhibited no difficulties with speech and spoke clearly.  
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Paul’s responses were not irrational and followed logical progression.  Paul appeared able to 

remember events from several years ago, although her recall was not perfect.  Although Paul made 

statements that may be objectionable to a third-party, those statements were not, in my opinion, 

indicative of any cognitive or psychological impairments or conditions.  Other individuals 

interviewed, most notably Caron, did not express concern for her capacity.   

 

To be clear, certain individuals interviewed expressed pointed concerns, i.e. Farrell, and l 

other alluded to vaguer concerns – Bernard.  Those concerns arose out of the aforementioned 

interactions, which, while potentially uncomfortable and confrontational, did not cross into the 

realm of misconduct.  While Paul’s comments were, to one interviewee, “bordering on 

unprofessional” both Caron and Cole acknowledged that Paul’s demeanor was not unusual.   

 

Based on the totality of the evidence, I am unable to conclude that a basis exists for the 

Council to compel Paul to sign an indemnification agreement or to seek to remove Paul for 

incapacity.   

 

VI. Conclusion 

 

In reaching these conclusions, please note that I operated under the limitation of 

investigating Farrell’s complaints and limiting the number of witnesses interviewed.  There were 

other individuals that Farrell and others suggested that I interview.  One notable individual is 

Former Town Manager Kevin Smith.  Per instructions, I did not do so, as that was proceeding 

beyond the four-corners of the complaint.     

 

If either you or members of the Council have any questions, comments, or concerns 

regarding this report, please let me know.   

 

 

Very Truly Yours,  

DONAHUE TUCKER & CIANDELLA, PLLC 

      

 
 

Eric A. Maher, Esq. 

      emaher@dtclawyers.com 

 

Enclosures 

mailto:emaher@dtclawyers.com



























































































	COVER Sheet Ethics Inv. Report
	2025 8 11 Ltr re Review of Ethics Complaint

